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2020 10
9,228,264.49 100.29
26,941.05 0.29
9,201,323.44
962 100.00
2020 10

377,743.123 23.47 8,864,625 24.43 9,228,264 |100.29

1-ACC

2020 10

2020 10
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2020 10

(2014 y | 47.204,495.18 4,937,590 10.495 1,098
(2015 y | 38.889.485.62 4,067,840 10.144 1,061
(2016 y | 23.984,003.46 2,508,736 9.327 976
2017 y | 16.710,779.19 1,747,948 10.226 1,070
(2018 y | 11.725.170.03 1,226,453 9.909 1,036
(2010 y | 10.731,974.05 1,122,564 10.347 1,082
(2020 , 7,484,151.49 782,842 9.539 998
2019 11 9,124,684.25 954,442 9.932 1,039
12 8,776,784.90 918,052 10.016 1,048

2020 8,169,914.39 854,573 10.025 1,049
7,957,078.83 832,310 9.907 1,036

7,455,828.50 779,880 9.488 992

7,454,739.10 779,766 9.497 993

7,507,329.13 785,267 9.564 1,000

7,484,151.49 782,842 9.539 998

7,470,270.35 781,390 9.557 1,000

6,797,783.68 711,048 9.478 991

6,618,595.67 692,305 9.426 986

10 6,480,248.34 677,834 9.478 991

2019 12 2020
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(2014 ) 12,233,407.51 900,012 10.629 782
(2015 ) 8,474,157.70 623,444 10.490 772
(2016 ) 8,060,522.95 593,013 9.677 712
(2017 ) 4,196,907.51 308,766 10.649 783
(2018 ) 3,297,043.48 242,563 10.292 757
(2019 ) 4,463,685.73 328,393 10.636 782
(2020 ) 3,156,860.01 232,250 9.616 707
2019 11 3,809,836.39 280,290 10.130 745
12 3,326,621.20 244,740 10.197 750

2020 3,290,558.30 242,086 10.193 750
3,234,224 .82 237,942 10.060 740

3,174,994 .22 233,584 9.581 705

3,176,203.93 233,673 9.585 705

3,186,404.26 234,424 9.646 710

3,156,860.01 232,250 9.616 707

3,160,943.17 232,551 9.628 708

3,025,899.71 222,615 9.543 702

3,008,220.58 221,315 9.488 698

10 2,950,635.55 217,078 9.533 701
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(2014 ) 2,461,316.80 300,625 10.463 1,278
(2015 ) 2,291,896.26 279,932 10.072 1,230
(2016 ) 1,629,381.23 199,013 9.183 1,122
(2017 ) 1,349,993.60 164,888 9.907 1,210
(2018 ) 1,040,801.60 127,124 9.347 1,142
(2019 ) 768,129.56 93,819 9.461 1,156
(2020 ) 602,899.49 73,638 8.492 1,037
2019 11 707,128.72 86,369 8.966 1,095
12 710,942.73 86,835 9.014 1,101

2020 663,960.49 81,096 8.999 1,099
654,934.49 79,994 8.877 1,084

601,674.76 73,489 8.475 1,035

601,311.63 73,444 8.470 1,035

604,969.59 73,891 8.522 1,041

602,899.49 73,638 8.492 1,037

603,354.17 73,694 8.499 1,038

597,820.43 73,018 8.421 1,029

573,819.73 70,086 8.367 1,022

10 561,145.10 68,538 8.406 1,027

52/250



EDINETOOOO
O00000o0odoooooooooo000odoonognoonognod(Ee22200)
Oooooooooooobooooooad

<HRIARTZEEE> (2013598138 GERAMEE) ~20205108%8)
HFIL)11.5 ooy 1
-1
105 - - SRl
100 MU A e g TR LT WL o A T
05 - - R T ) - - FF - == s s ssrssssasm s a0
ey R R 20
BS5 - 10
B.O 0
N'Im_l!rlSE 20142108318 20158108318 20162107318 NTEIDANE 2018108118 2015E10ANE WHE0RAIE
<WRILRT (AvUanh)) SEEES> (2013898 138 GEAMESE)~2020E108%8)
21 (BAEEL)

(WELI115
N FEAREN (R — 1D USREEE K

2013598138 2014510A318 20155 10A318 201610A318 20176104318 2018210A318 20195108318 2020810R318

<I1—DORT(~wIHh)) BHREESE> (2013596138 (EMMEE) ~20205 108%B)
gt o RAREN (5K — |DStURARSRER o D)
11# ............................................................................. 1u
= ol B - el e T R e T e e e e e '15
10.0 R 1
95 - - 15

8.0 400
013F9AI3E 20145108218 201SF10ANE 20065108318 20175100318 20185108318 2019F10A318 20205108318

53/250



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2013 13 4.95
2014
2014 2015 -3.34
2015 2016 -8.05
2016 2017 9.64
2017 2018 -3-10
2018 2019 4.42
2019 2020 -7.81
2013 13 6.29
2014
2014 2015 -1.31
2015 2016 775
2016 2017 10.04
2017 2018 =3-35
2018 2019 3.34
2019 2020 =9-59
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2013 13 4.63
2014
2014 2015 -3.74
2015 2016 -8.83
2016 2017 7.88
2017 2018 =565
2018 2019 1.22
2019 2020 -10.24
100x
10

10 10
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2013 13 5,649,999.225 1,152,275.410 4,497,723.815
2014 (5,649,999.225) | (1,152,275.410) | (4,497,723.815)
2014 988,912.962 1,652,866.295 3,833,770.482
5016 (988,912.962) | (1,652,866.295) | (3,833,770.482)
2015 95,047.671 1,357,480.370 2,571,337.783
016 (95,047.671) (1,357,480.370) | (2,571,337.783)
2016 115,643.499 1,052,798.202 1,634,183.080
5017 (115,643.499) | (1,052,798.202) | (1,634,183.080)
2017 46,248.094 497,161.818 1,183,269.356
5018 46,248.094 497,161.818 1,183,269.356
2018 72,941.181 218,967.255 1,037,243.282
5019 72,941.181 218,967.255 1,037,243.282
2019 2,374.612 255,072.475 784,545.419
5020 (2,374.612) (255,072.475) (784,545.419)

2013 13 1,469,342.234 318,356.255 1,150,985.979
2014 (1,469,342.234) | (318,356.255) | (1,150,985.979)
2014 262,602.779 605,740.732 807,848.026
5016 (262,602.779) (605,740.732) (807,848.026)
2015 250,329.765 225,302.621 832,875.170
5016 (250,329.765) (225,302.621) (832,875.170)
2016 25,505.490 464,264.185 394,116.475
5017 (25,505.490) (464,264.185) (394,116.475)
2017 18,400.459 92,166.056 320,350.878
5018 18,400.459 92,166.056 320,350.878
2018 133,469.880 34,143.649 419,677.109
5019 133,469.880 34,143.649 419,677.109
2019 10,483.078 101,856.996 328,303.191
5020 (10,483.078) (101,856.996) (328,303.191)
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2013 13 269,404 .269 34,165.676 235,238.593
2014 (269,404.269) (34,165.676) (235,238.593)
2014 42,476.626 50,167.189 227,548.030
5016 (42,476.626) (50,167.189) (227,548.030)
2015 13,310.936 63,432.042 177,426.924
S0le (13,310.936) (63,432.042) (177,426.924)
2016 5,477.811 46,640.242 136,264.493
5017 (5,477.811) (46,640.242) (136,264.493)
2017 3,366.996 28,280.529 111,350.960
5018 3,366.996 28,280.529 111,350.960
2018 315.060 30,476.975 81,189.045
5019 315.060 30,476.975 81,189.045
2019 0 10,195.467 70,993.578
5020 ©) (10,195.467) (70,993.578)

2013 30 2013 11

10
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1,000
100 0.01
100 0.01
100 0.01
0.001 0.001
0.001 0.001

0.001 0.001
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1,000
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17
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131

23 103

2020 10 30
104.60 73.57 122.14
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2020 30
)
2020 2019
156,057 16,324 388,599 40,647
10,345,386 1,082,127 14,578,197 1,524,879
10,501,443 1,098,451 14,966,796 1,565,527
3,074 322
67,932 7,106 59,907 6,266
100,000 10,460 150,000 15,690
4,712 493 24,364 2,548
175,718 18,380 234,271 24,505
10,325,725 1,080,071 14,732,525 1,541,022
328,303 419,677
70,994 81,189
784,545 1,037,243
9.616 707 10.638 783
8.492 1,037 9.463 1,156
9.539 998 10.349 1,083
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2020 30
)
2020 2019

441 46 750 78

(878,586) (91,900) 691,865 72,369
(1,123) (117) (2,056) (215)

(879,268) (91,971) 690,559 72,232
(19,058) (1,993) (23,358) (2,443)
(8,279) (866) (10,250) (1,072)
(7,141) (747) (8,759) (916)
(89,333) (9,344) (109,490) (11,453)
(1,191) (125) (1,460) (153)
(9,529) (997) (11,679) (1,222)
(31,740) (3,320) (30,841) (3,226)
(8,022) (839) (8,043) (841)
(34,462) (3,605) (2,488) (260)
(28,784) (3,011) (27,440) (2,870)
(237,539) (24,847) (233,808) (24,456)

(1,116,807) (116,818) 456,751 47,776
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2020 30
)
2020 2019
14,732,525 1,541,022 15,316,162 1,602,071
70,266 7,350 1,015,865 106,259
3,438 360
23,647 2,473 758,313 79,320
93,913 9,823 1,777,616 185,939
(707,372) (73,991) (258,061) (26,993)
(103,193) (10,794) (327,562) (34,263)
(2,573,341) (269,171) (2,232,381) (233,507)
(3,383,906) (353,957) (2,818,004) (294,763)
(3,289,993) (344,133) (1,040,388) (108,825)
(1,116,807) (116,818) 456,751 47,776
10,325,725 1,080,071 14,732,525 1,541,022
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2020 30
( )
2020 2019

(1,116,807) (116,818) 456,751 47,776

(441) (46) (750) (78)

( ) 1,030,079 107,746 (787,395) (82,362)

(87,169) (9,118) (331,394) (34,664)

3,205,806 335,327 1,572,956 164,531

«C ) 8,025 839 (4,170) (436)

(

) (50,000) (5,230) 150,000 15,690
441 46 750 78

3,077,103 321,865 1,388,142 145,200

93,913 9,823 1,777,616 185,939

(3,403,558) (356,012) (2,922,781) (305,723)

(3,309,645) (346,189) (1,145,165) (119,784)

(

) (232,542) (24,324) 242,977 25,415
388,599 40,647 145,622 15,232

156,057 16,324 388,599 40,647

12 42 ( )
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( )( ) 2008 10 21 2015
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2008 10 27
(
) 2013 2013 17
( )
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2020
0.10 (2019 0.10 )
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2020 2019
156,057 388,599
2020 2019
10,341,805 14,539,053
3,581 39,144
10,345,386 14,578,197
(3,074)
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2020 2019

441 750
«C )

2020 2019
(717,248) 934,657
(161,338) (242,792)
(878,586) 691,865
151,493 (95,530)
(1,030,079) 787,395
(878,586) 691,865
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)
)
2019 30
(2019
2020 30 2019 30
2,174,460 108,723 3,133,318 156,836
683,444 34,172 872,102 43,721
2,857,904 142,895 4,005,420 200,557
(2019 )
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(2019 )
517,090 (2019 726,953 )
©
12
( )
(
)
A+
A+
A+
( ) ( )

2020 30 2019 30
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(
)
2020 30
3,581 (3,074) 507
3,581 (3,074) 507
(3,074) 3,074
(3,074) 3,074
(
)
2019 30
39,144 39,144
39,144 39,144
)]
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( (V) )
2020 30 2019 30
2020
60,425 7,507 67,932
100,000 100,000
4,712 4,712
10,325,725 10,325,725
10,325,725 165,137 7,507 10,498,369
3,074 3,074
2019
49,872 10,035 59,907
150,000 150,000
24,364 24,364
14,732,525 14,732,525
14,732,525 224,236 10,035 14,966,796
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@

Q)

13

2020
10,341,805 10,341,805
3,581 3,581
10,345,386 10,345,386
(3,074) (3,074)
(3,074) (3,074)
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2019
14,539,053 14,539,053
39,144 39,144
14,578,197 14,578,197
2019 30
2020
156,057 156,057
(67,932) (67,932)
(100, 000) (100, 000)
4,712) (4,712)
(10,325,725) (10,325,725)
(10,498, 369) (10,498,369)
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2019
388,599 388,599
(59,907) (59,907)
(150, 000) (150, 000)
(24,364) (24,364)
(14,732,525) (14,732,525)
(14,966,796) (14,966,796)
)
2020
607,286 679,863 2020 31 3,581
3,172,418 2,177,534 2020 31 (3,074)
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2019

4,477,128 3,101,034 2019 31 35,696
766,953 870,965 2019 31 3,448
( ) ( )
(
) ( ) ( )
( ) ( )

101/250



10

@)

2019

2020

2018

2019

2020

30

30

30 2019

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020
) ( )
419,677 81,189 1,037,243
10,483 2,374
(101,857) (10,195) (255,072)
328,303 70,994 784,545
2019
) ( )
320,351 111,351 1,183,269
133,470 315 72,941
(34,144) (30,477) (218,967)
419,677 81,189 1,037,243
10
2020 30
10,325,725 (2019 14,732,525 )
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2020 30 2019 30
)
2020
( ) ( )
2,163,554 678,021 7,484,151 10,325,726
€Y o
2,163,554 678,021 7,484,150 10,325,725
2019
( ) ( )
3,123,877 873,445 10,731,974 14,729,296
685 191 2,353 3,229
3,124,562 873,636 10,734,327 14,732,525
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2020
C ) ( )
328,303 70,994 784,545
328,303 70,994 784,545
2019
( 2 ( )
419,677 81,189 1,037,243
419,677 81,189 1,037,243

0.16

10,000

0.08

0.01

8,000
8,022
(2019 8,043 )

4,500 AML
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2020 2019
19,058 2,848 23,358 4,138
8,279 7,507 10,250 10,035
7,141 5,647 8,759 6,131
1,191 91 1,460 119
8,022 8,816 8,043 793
7,878 3,378
2020 30
441 (2019 750 )
S C)IQD)
2020 30
89,333 6,796
0.08
2020 30
725
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2020 30

2020

14

2020
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( )
2020 2019
( ) 10,325,726 14,729,296
(
)
( ) 9.616 10.636
( ) 8.492 9.461
9.539 10.347
( )
( ) 11.111 10.618
( ) 9.625 9.589
10.534 10.470
( ) 8.019 10.098
( ) 8.086 9.375
9.445 9.679
( ) -9.59 3.34
( ) -10.24 1.22
-7.81 4.42
2020 2019
( )
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Tomgpiston Glabal Sond Fumnd Foralgn Currency Series -
& seres trust of Red Arc Global vestmants (Caymaan) Tk
Firanca! siafamends for the yeav ended 30 Jume 2020

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020

(Expressed in Unifed Stales dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

Mofe

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,1
Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss 4, 11
Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profil or

loss 4 11
Accruals and other payables 1
Amounts due to brokers 5
Redemplion payable &
Total liabilities (excluding net assets

attributable to the unitholder)
Met assets attributable to the unitholder 10
Total number of units in issue
ALD Hedged class 10{a)
EUR Hedged class 10¢a}
USD class 10{=)

108/250

2020 2019

3 156057 § 388,589
10,345,386 14,578,167
$ 10,501,443  § 14,066,796
$ 3074 § -
67,932 58,907
100,000 150,000
4,712 24,364

$ 175718 § 234271
§ 10,325,725  § 14,732,525
AUD 328,303  AUD 419877
EUR 70,884 EUR 81,189
USD 784,545  USD1,037,243
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Templefon Giobal Bond Fund Forsign Curmency Series -
& seres bus! of Red Are Glabal vesimenls (Cayman) Trust
Findncia! statements for the year anded 30 Jme 2023

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020

(continued)
{Expressed in United Slales dollars unless olherwise indicated)

MNote 2020 £019
Met asset value per unit in local currency
AUD Hedged class AUD 9616 AUD 10.538
EUR Hedged class EUR 8.4462 EUR 9.453
USD class ush 9.539 UsD 10.349

Approved and authorised for issue by the Trustee and the Manager on 11 December 2020

/ﬁ."@.ﬂ.&—ﬂ.—-—ﬂ

)
} For end on bahali of C1BC Bank and Trist

MAYLYN PHILLIPS )} Company (Cayman) Limitad (*Trustes")
susral? )

W 1 For and on behalf of Ciligroup First Investment
| Management Limiled (“Managar”)
}

The notes on pages 12 to 42 farm part of these financlal statements.
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Termplelcn Glabal Bond Fund Forewgn Curenty Seras -
B Earing trost of Rad AT Glabal imesimants (Cayman) Trust
FitAni] SMAMARLE Ror th year amded 30 Jina 2020

Statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 June 2020
(Expressed in Uniled Slates dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Nole 2020 2018

Interest incame T.11@ § 441 5 750
Met (loss)igain an financial instruments at fair

value through profit or loss B (878,588) B9 8BS
Mat foreign exchange loss (1,123) i2,056)
Total (less)igain :&_{EE&@} $__ E90,558
Management fee 11(a) 5 (18,0548) § {23,358}
Trustee fee 11{a) 48.279) {10,250}
Administrator, transfer agent and custodian

fees 11(a) (7,141) (8,758)
Distributer fee 11(B) (89,333) {109,430)
Agent company fee 11{a) (1,191) (1,460)
Sernvice provider fee 11{b) (9,528) {11,679}
Audit fee (31,7400 {30,841)
Financial statements preparation fee 11(a) (8,022 (8,043)
Lagal and professional fee 11(a) (34.462) (2,488)
Others (28,784) (27 440%
Total operating expenses § (237539) §  (233808)

Change in net assets attributable to the
unitholder from operations and total
comprehensive income for the year 5 (1116807} 3 458 751

The notes on pages 12 to 42 form part of these financial staternents,
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Tamgleton Gioba! Dond Fund Foreign Curency Seres -
8 zares frusl of Red Are Globe! Ivvesfments (Copman) Trust
Finavcol sfatements for the year ended 30 Jone 2050

Statement of changes in net assets attributable to the unitholder

for the year ended 30 June 2020
(Expressed in United States doflars unless otherwise indicated)

Nole 2020 2019
Balance at the beginning of the year § 14,732 525 § 15318,1682
Transactions with the unitholder
Subscription of units
- AUD Hedged class 1a) & 70,266 § 1,015,865
- EUR Hedged class 10{a} - 3438
- USD class 10{a) 23,647 758,313

5 93,913 $ 1777618

Redemption of units

- AUD Hedged class 10(a) 3 (TOT372) 3 (258,051)
- EUR Hedged class 10{a) (103,193) (327,562)
- UsD class 1) (2,573,341) (2,232,381)

$ (3,383306) §$ (2,B18,004)

Total transactions with the unitholder 5 (3.289953) $ (1,040,388)

Change in net assets attributable to the
unitholder from cperations and total
comprehensive income for the year {1,116,807) 456,751

Balance at the end of the year 5 10,325,725 $ 14,732,525

Tha nates on pages 12 to 42 form part of these financial statements.
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for the year ended 30 June 2020
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicaled)

Operating activities

Change in net assets attributable to the
unithelder from cperations and tatal
comprehensive income for the year

Adjustments for:
Interest income
MWet unrealised foss/{gain}

Operating loss before changes in working
capital

Met decrease in financial azsets and lisbilities
at fair value through profit or loss

Increasef{decrease) in accruals and olher
payables

{Decrease)fincrease in amounts due to brokers

Interest received

Met cash generated from operating activities
Financing activities

Proceeds from unit subscriptions
Payments on unit redemptions

Met cash used in financing activities

Met (decreasej/increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Caszh and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year

2020 2019
(1,116,807) § 458751
(441) (750)
1,030,079 {787 .385)
(87,169) §  (331,394)
3,205,806 1,572,956
B,025 4170}
(50,000) 150,000
441 750
3077103 § 1,388,142
93813 § 1777818
(3.403,558) (2,022,781)
{3,300,645) g (1,145,185)
(232542) § 242977
388,599 145822
156,057 $ 388,589

The notes on pages 12 to 42 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
{Expressed in United Stafes doflars unless otherwise indicated)

Geaneral

Red Arc Glabal Investments (Cayman) Trust (the “Trust™) is an umbrella unit trust established
as an exempled trust under the Trust Laws of the Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated 21
Cctobar 2008, as amended and restaled on 10 March 2015, between Citigroup First
Investment Management Limited as manager (the “Manager”) and CIBC Bank and Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited as trustee (the “Trustee) {jointly "Mznagement’). The Trust was
registered under the Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman Islands on 27 October 2008,
Templeton Glabal Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series (the “Series Trust™) was established on
5 August 2013, The Series Trust's first dealing day was 17 September 2013.

The investment objective of the Series Trust is to maximise total investment return consisting
of a combination of interas! income, capital appreciation and currency gains. The Series Trust
seeks to achisve this investment objective through investment mainly in a United States dollars
("USD") denominated share class of the Templeton Global Bond Fund (the “Investment Fund®).

Ag at 30 June 2020 and 2019, the Trust and the Series Trust had no employees, The
investmeant aclivities of the Series Trust are managed by the Manager. The administration and
cusiodian functions of the Series Trust are delegated ta Citibank M.A. Hong Keng Branch (the
“Administralor” and the "Custedian”). SMBC Trust Bank Lid. is the distributor (the “Distributoer”)
of the Series Trust,

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Keng Asceunting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerified Public Accountants ("HEICPAT) and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of the significant aceounting policies
adopted by the Series Trust is set out below,

Basis of preparation

The functional and presentation currency of the financlial statements s the USD (rounded 1o
the nearest USD) and not the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the
units of the Series Trust are issued and redeemed in LUSD and the Series Trust's paformance
is measured in USD terms.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated at their fair value as explained

in the accounting policies, note 2(e). Other financial assets and liabilities are stated at
amortised cosl or redemption amount (redeemable units).
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires Management to
make judgaments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of pelicies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated

azssumplions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the resalls of which form the basis of making
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and undeslying assumptions are reviewsd on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revislon and future periods if the revision
affects both cument and future periods.

Judgements made by Management in the application of HKFRSs thal have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncerainty are discussed in note
12.

{c¢} Foreign currency transfation

Foreign currency fransactions during the year are translated into USD at the foreign exchange
rates at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities demominated in foreign
currencies are translated into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of the

reporting period.

Fareign eurrency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss as netforeign
exchange gain or loss, except for those arising from financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, which are recognised as a component of the net gain or loss on financial
instrumeants at fair value through profit or loss.

{d} Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
currant aceounting period of the Series Trust. Mone of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Series Trust's result and financial posilion for the current or pricr periods
have been prepared or presented.

The Serles Trust has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
far the current accounting period (ses note 13),

{e) Financial insiruments

{iy  Initial recognition
The Series Trust classifies its financial instruments into different categories at inception as
mentioned in (i) belew. Financial instruments are measured inifially at fair value, which

normally will ba equal to the transaction prica. Transaction costs on financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through prefit or loss are expensed immediately.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Series Trust recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
parly to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets and financial liabilites at fair value through profit or loss is recognised using
frade date accounting. From these dates, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value aftha financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or less ane recorded
as thay ooour.

Categorisation

On Initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assels as measured af
amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL™)

A financial asset is measurad at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVTPL:

it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets o collect
contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dales to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SFPPI°).

All other financial asseats of the Series Trust are measured at FVTPL.
Business model assessmeant

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
asset is held, the Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice,
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest
income, maintaining & particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expecied cash outfiows or
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

- how the perfformance of the portfolio is evalualed and reported to the Series Trust's
Management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and tha financial assets
held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

- how Management is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assels managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, tha
reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets fo third parties in Wansactions that do not qualfy for
derscagnition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series
Trust's continuing recognition of the assets.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued}
The Series Trust has determined that it has two business models.

- Held-to-collect business model; this includes cash and cash eqguivalents, These
financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

- Otner business model: this includes investment in investment fund and derivative
financial instruments. These financial instruments are managed and their
performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequant sales taking place.

Aszassment whether contraciual cash flows are SPRI

For the purposes of this assessmant, 'principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial
assel on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of
meney and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount cutstanding during a
particular peried of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Serias Trust considers
the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contzing a confraclual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this conditicn. In making this assessment, the
Saeries Trust considers:

- cantingent events that would change the amount er timing of cash flows;
= leverage fealures;
- prepayment and extension features;

= terms that limit the Series Trust's claim to cash flows from specified assets (g.g. nen-
recourse featuras); and

- features that modify consideration for of the time value of money (e.9. pericdical reset
of interest rates).

The Series Trust classifies its investments based on the business model and contractual
cash flows assessment. Accordingly, the Series Trusl classifies all s investments and
derivative financial instruments info financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
category. Financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash and cash
equivalents.

Reclassifications
- Financial assels are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recagnition unless the
Series Trust were to change its business madel for managing financial assets, in

which case all affected financial assets would be reclassified an the first day of the
firzt reporting period following the change in the business modal.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(il  Fair value measurement principles

Falr valua is the price that would be recaived to sell an asset or paid o transfer a liability in an
orderly transaclion between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or,
in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Series Trust has access at that
date, The fair value of a liabllity reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measures the fair value of a financial instrument using tha
guoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if
transactions for the agset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and velume to provide
pricing information on an ongeing basis.

If there is no quoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a price from a
broker/dealer for non-exchange-traded financial instruments, or if the market for it is not active,
the fair value of the instrumeant is estimated using valuation technigues that provide a reflable
estimate of prices which could be obtained in actual market transactions.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition Is normally the
transzaction price - L.e. the fair value of the consideration given or recaived. If the Series Trust
determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair
value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
nor based on a valuation technique that used only data from observable markets, the financial
instrument iis initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the diffarence between the fair
value at initial recognifion and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is
recognised in profit or loss on an appropriale basis over the life of the instrument but no (ater
than when the valuation is supported wholly by cbservable market data or the transaction is
closed out.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are useéd, astimated future cash flows are based on
the management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of the
reporting year applicable for an inztrument with similar terms and conditions. Where other
pricing models are used, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting year.

The Series Trust recognises fransfers betwean levels of tha fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting year in which the change has occurred.

vy Impairment

The Series Trust recaognises Inss allewances for ECLs on financial assets measured at
amaortised cost,

The Seres Trust messures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLSs, except
for the following, which are meaasured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk al the reporting date; and

- other financial assete for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over tha
expected life of the asset) has not Increased significantly since initial recognition.
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2  Significant accounting policies {continued)

Whnen determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Series Trust considers
reasonable and supportable infarmation that is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based
on the Series Trust's historieal experience and informed credit assessment and inciuding
forward-loaking informatian,

The Series Trust assumes that the credit risk cn a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Serles Trust considers a financial asset fo be in default when;

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Seres Trust in full, without
recourse by the Seres Trust to actians such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Serles Trust considors a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating
of the counterparty is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment
grade’. The Series Trust considers this to be Baa3 or higher per Moody's or BEB- or
higher per Standard & Poor's,

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of & financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorer period if the expected Ffe of
the instrument is less than 12 manths).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Series Trust is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimata of credit losses. Cradit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shorifalls {i.e. the difference between he cash flows due
{o the entity in accordance with the confract and the cash flows that the Series Trust
expects fo receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial
assel.

Credif-impairad financial assels
At each reporling date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets camed at
amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial assel is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or

maore events that have a detimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have ccourmed.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following cbservable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower ar issuer,
- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or
- itis probable thal the barrewer will enter bankruptcy or other financial rearganisation,
Presentation of allowanee for ECLs in the stalement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of the assets.

Wiriter-ciff

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Serles Trust has
no reasonable expectations of recovering 2 financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof,

Deracognition

A financial asset is derecagnised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows frem
the financial asset expire, or where the financial asset together with substantialty all the risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract ks discharged,
cancelled or expirad.

Struelured entities
A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not
the dominant factor in declding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate

to administrative tasks anly and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual
arrangaments.

A structured entity often has some or all of the following features or attributes:
- Restrictad activities,

- A namow and well-defined abjective, such as to provide investment opportunitiss for
investors by passing on risks and rewards assaciated with the assets of the structured entity
to inveslors;

- Insufficiant equity to permit the structurad entity to finance its activities without subordinated
financial support; and

- Financing in the form of multiple contraclually linked instruments to investors that create
concentrations of credit ar other risks (tranches).
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

Management has determined that the Series Trust's investment in the |nvestment Fund (see
note 8(a)) is an investment in an unconsolidated structured entity and iz classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 4), The Investment Fund's investment
objective is to maximise total investment return consisting of a combination of interest income,
capltal appreciation and currency gains. The Investment Fund is managed by an unrelated
asset manager and applies various investment stralegies 1o accomplish ils investment
objectives.

The Investment Fund invests principally in a portfolic of fixed or fleating debt securities and
debt ebligations issued by govemment or government-refated issuers worldwide, The
Investment Fund can invest to a lesser extent In debt securities of any quality issued by
corporations located In any country and debt securities of supranational entiies. The
Investment Fund can use derivatives for hedging and investment purpases which are used as
an aclive investment management instrument to gain exposure to markets. The Investment

Fund financas is operaticns by issuing redeemable shares which are puttable at holder's
optlan an any Luxembourg business day, and entitles the holder to a proportional stake in the
Investment Fund's net assets. The Series Trust holds redesmable shares in the Investment
Fund and is not sponsoring the Invastmant Fund. As at 30 June 2020, the Senes Trust held
0.10% {2019 0.10%) of the net assets of the Investment Fund.

The Series Trust's holdings in the Investment Fund are subject to the terms and condition of
the respective offering documentation and are susceptible to market price risk arising from
uncertaintes about future values of the Investment Fund. The Manager makes investment
decision after extensive due diligence of the Investmenl Fund including consideration of its
strategy and the overall guality of the Investment Fund's manager.

The change in fair value of the Investment Fund is included in the statemenl of comprehensive
income under “Net gain/{loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or less”,

(vil) Offsetting
Financial assats and financial liabilties are offset and the nel amount presentad in the
statement of financkal position when, and anly when, the Series Trust has a legal right to offset

the amounts and it intends to either settie on & net basis or (o realisa the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

(Al Cash and cash equivalenis
Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks, Cash equivalents are short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition,
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g} Interest income

Interest incame is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the original effective Interest
rale of the instruments calculated at the acquisition or originalion dale. Interast income
includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, fransaction costs or other differences
between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its amount at maturity
calculated on an effective interest rate basis.

It is recorded gross of withhalding tax Imposed in the country of origin and such tax is
separately recognised in profit or loss, if any.

{h)  Net gain or loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

MNet gain or loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all realised
and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences, but excludas interest
income,

(i) Expenses
All expenses of the Series Trust are recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

) Income tax
Cayman lslands
Under the current taxation regime in the Cayman Islands, the Series Trust Is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has received an undertaking from
the Gaovernor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands exampting it from tax for a peried of 50 years

from the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included
in these financial statements,

Hong Kong

The Series Trust i not expacted to be subject to Hong Kong tax in respect of any of its
investiment activities.

{k) Realisation of units by the unithoider

The unitholdar may realise units on any day on which commereial banks ara open for business
in each of Hong Keng, Luxembourg, Mew York and Tokyo, andfor any cther day or days
designated in writing by the Manager from time fo time (the "Repurchase Day”). Units will be
reglised at the nat asset value per unit on the relevant Repurchase Day, a price which is
calculated by reference lo the net asset value of the Serles Trust as at the applicable
Repurchase Cay.

20

121/250



(U]

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Templaion Global Bond Fumd Forsign Cumancy Sarkes -
a zevives drusl of Red Are Giobs! nvestimends [Camoman) Tnus!
Eimansial sfalsmants for the yaar anded 20 Jume 2020

Significant accounting policles {continued)
Units fn Issue

The Series Trust classifies financial instrumenis issued as financial liabilities or equity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the centractual terms of the instruments.

A puttable Rnancial instrument that includes a conbractual obligation for the igsuer fo
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or anather financial asset is classified as equity
if it meats all of the following conditions:

(I} it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Series Trustl's net assets in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation,

(i) tisin tha class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instrumants;

(i} allfinancial instruments in the class of instruments that is subardinate to all other classes
of instruments have identical features,

(iv) apart from the contractual obligation for the Serles Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrumant for cash or ancther financial asset, the instrument does not include any other
features that would require classification as a liability, and

(v} the total expected cash flows attribulable to the instrument over ils life are based
substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assats or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Series Trusl over
the life of the instrument.

The redeemable units of the Series Trust are classified as financial liabilities and are measured
at the present valua of the redemplion amounts.

The Series Trust has three classes of redeemable units in issue: AUD Hedged, EUR Hedged
and USD classes thal are the most subordinate classas of financial instruments and rank pari
passu in all material respecls and have the same terms and conditions other than that the
different classes of units are denaminated in different currencies (the *Reference Currencies”).
The redesmable units provide the unitholder with the righl to require redemption for cash at a
value proporlicnate to the unitholder's share in the net assets of the applicable class of unils
of the Series Trust al the redemption date, and also in the event of the Series Trust's
ligquidation.
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2 Significant accounting policies {continued)
(m) Related parties

{a) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related fo the Series Trust if that
persan;

{ii  has contral or joint control over the Series Trust;
(i)  nas significant influence over the Series Trust, or

{Ify Is a member of the key management personnel of the Series Trusl or the Series
Trust's parent.

{b)  An entity is related 1o the Series Trust if any of the following conditions applias:

{i)  The entity and the Serles Trust are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i} One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity {or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a Series Trust of which the other entity is a mamber).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party,

(v} One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associale of
the third entity.

(v} The entity is a post-cmployment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Series Trust or an entity related to the Series Trust.

(vi) The entity is contralled of jointly controlled by a parson identified in (a).

(vil) A person identified in (a)(7) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the enlity {or of a parent of the entity).

(viil) The enfity, or any member of a group of which it is a party, provides key
managemeant personneal sarvices to the Series Trust or to the Series Trust's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members whe may be expecied 1o
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their daalings with the Series Trust.

3 Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2018

Current deposits with a bank s 156,057 § 388589

Cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Cilibank N.A. Hong Kong Branch.
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4  Financlal assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2018

5 14,538,083

39,144

§ 14,578,187

2020
Financlal assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Mon-darivative financial instruments:
- Unlisted open-ended investment in Templeton Glabal
Bond Fund § 10,241,805
Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward contracts 3,581
$ 10,345,386
Financial liabilities at fair wvalue through
profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments:
= Foraign currency forward contracts E {3.074)

5 Amounts due to brokers

The balance represents the amounts payable to the brokers for unsettied purchases and is

expected to be settled within one month.

6 Redemption payable

The balance represants the amounts payable to the unitholder for redeesmed units and is

expected to be settled within one manth,

7 Interest income

2020

Interast incame on bank balances -] 441

2019

5 750
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8  Net (loss)gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

2020 2079
Mon-derivative financial instruments:
- Unlisted opan-anded investment in Templeton Global
Bond Fund § (717.248) $ 934 657
Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign curreéncy forward contracts {161,338) {242, 792)
§ (s78586) § 691865
Representing:
Met realised gain/{loss) 5 151,483 $ {95,530%
Met unrealised (loss)gain (1.030,079) 787,395

$ (BFBSBE) §  GO1.865

9 Financial instruments and associated risks

The Series Trust's investing activities expose it to various types of financial risks that are
associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it invests according to the
invesiment strateqy. The risks that the Seres Trust is exposed to are risks of the fund-of-fund
structure, rigks of the underlying fund and rizks of the Series Trust which include market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. Marked risk includes interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk.

The natura and extent of the financial instruments cutstanding at the end of the reparting period
and their associated financial risks, as well as the risk management policies employed by the
Series Trust are discussed balow.

{a) Investment strategy

As mentioned in note 1, the invesiment abjective of the Series Trust is to maximise tolal
investment return consisting of a combination of interest income, capital appraciation and
currancy gains. The Series Trust seeks to achieve this investment objective through mainly
investing in the Investment Fund.

The Investment Fund is an unlisted open-ended fund. It is a sub-fund of Franklin Templatan
Invesiment Funds, a company incorporated in Luxembourg under the laws of the Grand Duchy
of Luxembourg as a société anonyme and qualifying as a sociélé dinvestissement & capital
variable. Franklin Templeton Investment Funds qualifies as an Undertakings for Collective
Investment in Transferable Securities.

The Investment Fund is managed by Franklin Advisers, Inc. {the “Investment Fund Manager’),
who provides day-to-day management In respect of the investment and re-investment of the
nel assets of the Investment Fund. The Investmant Fund Manager recefves investment
management fee from Franklin Templeton Invesiment Funds, the umbrella fund of the
Investment Fund.
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8  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The Investment Fund's investment objective is to maximise total investment retum consisting
of a combination of interest income, capilal appreciation and currency gains. It seeks to
achieve iz objective by investing principally in a portfolio of fixed and floating rate dabt

securties (including non-investment grade securities) and debt cbligations izsued by
government or governmeni-related issuars worldwidea,

The Investment Fund uses derivatives for hedging and investment purposes which are used
as an active investment management instrument to gain exposure to markets.

The Investment Fund's functional currency is USD. The Manager of the Series Trust also
systematically hedges the foreign cumency exposure of the AUD Hedged unite and EUR
Hedged units of the Series Trust between their Referance Cumencies (l.e., AUD for AUD
Hedged units and EUR for EUR Hedged units, hereinafter the same) and the functional
currency of the Series Trust by entering into foreign currency forwand contracts of maturities of
around one month (the *Currency Hedging Transactions”),

A certain portion of the Series Trust's assels is retained as cash, taking into consideration the
day-lo-day cash needs of the Serles Trust as they arise.

{b) Risks of the fund-of-fund structure

The Series Trust invests substantially all of its proceeds from the issuance of unils into the
Investment Fund and operates in a lund-of-fund structure.

The fund-cf-fund struclure gives rise to a unigue risk thal multiple partias invest in the
Investment Fund alongside the Series Trust, whose units may not rank pari passu, lowering
the investment refurns, Should a major investor withdraw from the Investment Fund, the
investors that remain may lake up a greater proportion of the operating expenses.
Furthermore, a substantial withdrawal of capital by the investors within a short time pericd
could necessilate the liquidation of security positions at a ime and in a manner which does not
provida the most economic advantage ta the Investment Fund, and which can adversely affect
the value of the Investment Fund's assets,

The Series Trust achieves its investment objective through its investment in the Investment
Fund. Whaether the investmenl abjective ean be achieved depends on the performance of the
Invastment Fund's financial instrumants and the continuing availability of the: Investment Fund,
as well as the business continuity of the Investmant Fund Manager.

The Series Trust is under a fund-of-fund structure and has not been established as a tracker
fund. The performance of the Series Trust can differ frem that of the Investment Fund,

{c) Risks of the Investment Fund
Under the fund-of-fund structure, the Series Trust has an indirect exposure o the risks of the
Investment Fund and less incurred by the Investment Fund can adversely affect the Series
Trust's financial position. The Investment Fund is the underying fund of the Series Trust and

is exposed to the following key risks which are monitored by the Investment Fund Manager.
The Series Trust is indirectly exposed to them.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(i) Credit risk of the Investment Fund

Credit risk of the Investment Fund arises when an issuer of the bond securilies held by the
Investment Fund defaults and falls to make principal or interest payments on due date. The

Investment Fund Manager has procedures in place o identify, measure, meniter and control
credit risk.

The transactions in securities are settled or paid for upen delivery through approved and
raputable brokers and oulstanding balances are closely manitored,

The bond securities invested by the Investmeant Fund are of sound credit ratings and their credit
qualities are assessed based on the nature of the issuers and historical default rates,

(it Currency risk of the Investment Fund

Currency risk arisas from the effects of exchange rate fluctuations between the Investment
Fund's functional currency and currency in which its financial instruments are denominated.

(il  Liguidity risk of the Investment Fund

Liquidity risk arises when the Investmeant Fund Manager is not able ta generate sufficient cash
to seftle its obligations as they fall due. A major liquidity risk is the ongaing redemption of the
Investment Fund's units.

(v} Interest rate risk of the Investment Fund

Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in prevailing market interest rates on
which the fair value of Investment Fund's financial instruments and fulure cash flows are
based. The Investment Fund Manager monitors the risk by quantifying its exposure in duration
terms.

(v) Derivative risk of the Investment Fund
Derivative risk arises from derivative contracts undertaken by the Investment Fund for hedging
and investment purposes. Derivative contracts are high leverage investments and their value
is determined by fluctuation in the underlying assets. Derivalive contracts add to the liquidity,
credit and counterparty risk of the Investment Fund.

The Series Trust's maximum exposura to its investment in the Investment Fund is the fair value
of its investment in the Investmant Fund.

(d} Market risk of the Series Trust
All Investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the

value of the investments will fluctuate as a resull of changes in interest rates, exchange rates
or prices.
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

i Interest rate risk

Interest rale risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the future
cash flows or the fair value of financial ingtruments and therefore result in 2 potential gain or
less to the Series Trust. The Saeries Trust's interest rate risk Is managed on an on-going basis
by the Manager. Except for bank deposits, all the financial assets and liabilifies of the Series
Trust are nan-interest bearing.

(i)  Currency risk

The Series Trust may invest In financial instruments and enter inte ransactions denominated
In eurrencies other than its functional currency. Consequently, the Series Trust is expozed to
risks that the exchange rate of its functional currency relative to other foreign currencias may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of that portion of the Series Trust's
financial assets or liabilities denominated in currencies cther than the USD.

The fluctuations in the rate of exchange bebtween the cuency in which the asset or liabiltty is
denominated and functional currency could result in an appreciation or depreciation in the fair
value of that asset or liability. Currency exposures between the Reference Currencies and the
functional currency of the Series Trust are present for the AUD Hedged and EUR Hedged
classes. Curency Hedging Transactions are entered into by the Manager according to a
hedge ratio with certain residual risks. Furthermore, as a result of the Currency Hedging
Transactions, an appreciation in a Reference Currency against the functional currency does
not lead to a corresponding increase in the net asset value per unit of the hedged classes.

Currency sensilivily

As at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019, had the USD weakened by 5% (2019: 5%) in relation
to the respective currencies, with all other variables hald constant, the fair value of the foreign
cummency forward contract would have increased by the amounts shown below.

Changes in fair Changas in fair

value of the value of the

forsign forsign

CUTBNGY cumency

forward forward

Naotional  coniract if USD Notiona!  contract if USD

amournt at weakened amount at weakaned

{Expressed in LIS0) 30 Juna 2020 by 5% 30 Juna 2079 by 5%
Australian Dollar 32 2174480 § 108,723 & 3133318 § 156,636
Eura 683,444 34172 ar2.102 43,721
Total £ 2857504 & 142895 S 4005420 % 200 557

A 5% (2019: 5%) strengthening of the USD against the above currencies would have resulled
in an equal but opposita effect on the financial stalement amounts shown above, on the basis
that all other variables remain constant.
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9 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(il  Price risk

Price risk Is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or
all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

Frice sensitivity

The assets of the Series Trust are substantially invested in the [nvestment Fund and therefaore
are exposed to the price risk of the Investment Fund. It is estimated that a 5% (2019: 5%)
decrease In the quated price of the Investment Fund would result in a decrease In the nat
assels affributable to the unitholder and the total comprehensive income for the year by
S517,090 (2019: $726,953); an equal change in the opposite direction would result in an
increase in the net assets attributable to unitholder by an equal amount.

{a) Credit risk of the Serfes Trust

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation or a commitment that it has entered into with the Seres Trust. The Series Trust's
exposure to credit risk is monitored by the Manager on an ongoing basis.

Amounts ansing from ECL

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss
basis and reflects the short maturities of the exposures. All the cash held by the Seres Trust
is deposited with Citibank MN.A. Hong Kong Branch which is also the Administrator and the
Custodian. The Manager considers that these exposures have low credit risk.

The Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero as the countarparties have
a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term. There is no impairment
allowance recognised on cash and cash equivalents,

Tha Saries Trust is axpozed to credit risk with respect to the Custedian taking custody of the
Series Trust's cash and cash equivalents balances and tc the counterparty of the foreign
currency forward contracts under the Currency Hedging Transactions.

All thiz eash held by the Saeries Trust is deposited with Citibank N.A. Hong Keng Branch which
is alzo the Administrator and the Custodian. The Manager considers the credit risk of the bank
o be low.

The: eredit rating of Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch, the Cusfodian, was “A+" as rated by
Standard & Poor's. The eredit rating of Citigroup Global Markets Ltd., the counterparty of
foreign currency forward contracts and total retum swaps, was “A+" as rated by Standard &
Poor's. The credit rating of Citigroup Global Markels Japan Inc., the counterparty of foreign
currency forward contracts, was “A+" as rated by Standard & Poor's. The credit risk is
considered insignificant,

The Currency Hedging Transactions exposa the unitholder of the AUD and EUR Hedged
classes to counterparty risks. The Currency Hedging Transaclions were entered into with
Citigroup Global Markets Japan [nc,, an affiliate of the Manager.
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

As at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019, substantially all of the Series Trust's financial assets
were allocated to the Investment Fund and the investment manager is Franklin Advisers, Inc.

Tha Series Trust is indirectly exposed 1o credit risk through its investment in the Investment
Fund.

The table below sets out credit ratings previded by Standard & Poor's rating services for the
helding company of the Investment Fund Manager:

2020 2019

Credit rafing Credit rating

by Standard by Standard

& Poor's & Poor's

Franklin Resources, Inc. A A+

Offseiting of financial assels and fnancial iabdities
The disclosure set aut in the tables below includes financial assets and financlal liabilities that:
- are offsat in the statement of financial pasition; ar

- are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement, imespective of whelher thay are
offset in the statement of financial position.

The master netting arrangements do meet the criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial
position, The Series Trust and its counterparty do intend {o settle on a nat basis or o realise
the assets and settie the liabilties simultaneously.

Financial labilities subfect fo enforceable masler netting amangements

Grogs and Raiated amourits thal ara
nat  nol offsel in the slatemant

amones of
finarcul Finamual
instrumants  inshements Capstt

in the statema:  (incluting collateral
of fnancial non-castl reowvid or
passhion codalarsi] piedged Nl amouni
Aa ot 30 Juna 2000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Derivative finencigd instruments

- Foreign curmency forwarnd contracts 5 3581 § (3074 S - & 507
§ 3581 §F (3074 3 = % 507

Financisd llabdties at fair value thraugh profit or kss

Derivative financial Instruments

- Foralgn currancy formard conftracls £ (3074) & 3074 % - ¥ -
5 (3074) 5 3078 § - ¥ 3
29
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Financial instruments and assoclated risks (continued)

Financial labiifies subject to enforceable master netling arangements

Gross and  Rofeled amounds thaf are
nat ool offsal fn the statermant
omomnis ol of fnanoal pogiion
financis! Financis!
MSIUTANTS NSRS Cash
i the stglome,  (nchrding eatateral
of frenpengral norcash  reconwed of
position eolfaherall pladapd  Net amoun!
As at 30 June Z018

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loaa

Dertéative financial nsumants
— Foreign currency forward contracts § 35144 8§ - % = 5 35144

§ 3144 § - 8 - 5 314

Liquidity risk of the Series Trust

Liguidity risk arisas from the risk that the Manager may not be able to convert investments inlo
cash to meet liquidity needs in a timely manner. Receivables from redemplicn on investments
in the Investment Fund are normally setled within three fund business days, The Series Trust
is subject 1o liquidity risk on the ability of the Investmeant Fund to meet its redemption obligation.
The Series Trust Is exposed to liquidity risk on redemption of units by the unitholder an the
redemption date.

The unitholder may realise units on any Repurchase Day. Under normal marked condition, the
Manager will liquidate the Series Trust's investments in the Investment Fund to meet the

redemption cbligation. Any amount payable to the unitholder in respect of the realisation of
units shall normally be paid within eight fund business days following the relevant Repurchase

Day as dafined in note 2(k).
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Analysis of liability by remaining mafurity

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Series Trust's liabilities
as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019

2024}
Over Chvar
Rapayabia Within 1 manth fo 3 months
on demand 1 mardh 3 months fo 1 year Total
Mon-trading liabilities
Accruals and other
payables 3 - § 680425 % 7507 % - § @rBa2
Amounts due o brokers . 100,000 % - 100,000
Redemplion payabls B 4712 - - 4712
Mat assets attributable to
the unithclder 10,325 725 - - - 10,325.725
Total $10,325 725 $ 1:35.13‘.-' ¥ 7807 5 - §10,498,369
Trading liahilities
Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or
loss 5 - % 074 5 = § - 5 3,0?_’1
20719
Owar Cver
Rapayabla Withir 1 imanih to 3 months
on demand 1 month 3 months to 1 year Todal
Mon-trading liabilities
Accruals and other
payables 3 - & 49872 § 10,035 § - % 59907
Amounis due to brokers - 150,000 - - 150,000
Redemption payable - 24,364 - - 24 384
Met assets attributable to
this unitho'der 14,732 525 - . - 14,732 525
Total 314,732,525 §__2:"_4.233 3 10035 = = 514,966,796

k|
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9  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
(g) Fairvalues
(i  Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Series Trust's finanelal instruments measurad
at the end of the reporting period an a recurring basis, calegorised into the three-level fair value
hisrarchy a5 defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measuremant. The level into which a fair value
measuremeant is classifled is determined with reference to the observability and significance of
the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs L.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markats for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs e, observable inputs which

fall to meet Level 1, and not using significant uncbzervable inputs. Unobservable inpuls
are inputs far which market data are not available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

2020
Lavel § Laval 2 Leval 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Mon-derivative financial
instruments:
- Unlisted open-ended invesiment
in Templaton Global Bond
Fund % - 5103418058 3 - 510,341,805

Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forweard
contracts - 3,581 - 3,581

E] = $10,345386 §10,345 388

4
i

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Derlvative financial instruments:
- Foraign currency forward
contracts - (3,074} - (3.074)

5 - 8§ (a074) S - 8§ (3.074)

3z
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8  Financial Instruments and associated risks (continued)

2079 B
Lewval 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Maon-derivative financial
instruments:
- Unlisted open-ended invastment
in Templeton Global Bend
Fund ¥ - 514538053 % = 514,539,053

Derivative financial instrumeants:
- Foraign currency forward
caniracts » 30,144 - 3g 144

g - S14578187 & = $14,578.1497

During the year ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019, there were no transfers among
instruments in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

(i}  Financial instruments camied at other than fair vaelue

The financial instruments not measured at falr value through profit or loss are short-term
financial instrumenls whose carrying amounts approximate fair value.

The following table sets out the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value
and analyses it by the level in the fair value higrarchy inlo which that fair value measurement

is categorised.
2020
Leval 1 Leval 2 Leval 3 Tofal
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents § - % 156057 & - 8 166,067
Financlal llabiltties
Accruals and cther payables L3 - & B7032) % - & (B7,232)
Amounts due to brokers - {100,000} = {100,000)
Regemption payable - {4,712) - {4.712)
Met assets atiributable to the
unithclder - (10,325,725) - {10,325,725)
3 - F(1045835%) 3 < 510,495,358
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Financial instruments and associated risks {continued)

2019
Level 1 Level 2 Lewel 3 Total
Financial assats
Cash and cash equivalents 3 - 5§ 38e5EE 0§ - § 388,509
Financial liabllities
Aceruals and other payables s - % {58907 S - & {59,907}
Amounts due to brokers - {150,000) (130,000)
Redemption payable - (24,364} - {24,384)
Met assets attributable to the
unitholder . {14,732 525) - [14,732525)
5 - §{14966735) 3 - 5(14,965,796)
Foreign currency forward contracts
The foreign currency forward contracts were cutstanding as follows:
2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Currancy Crrrancy Cumency Currency Sefttement
bought  amouni bought sofd amount sold date Fair vaiue
ELUR 607,288 UspD 679,863  31.July2020 3 3,581
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Cumsnoy Curmency Currency Currancy Sattfement
bought  amoun! bowght st amaount soid cate Fair value
AUD 3172418 UsD 2177.534 31July2020 S (3.074)
34
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
2018

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Currency Cumency  Cumency Currancy Settferment

bought  amount bought sofd amount sold date Fair value
AUD 4,477,128 uso 3,101,034 31 Juiy2018 § 35,696
ELR 768,953 usoD BT0,B65 31 July 2019 _ 3.448

Farelgn currancy farward contracts are commitmeants either to purchase or sell a designated
currency at a specified future date for a specified price and settled in cash. The contracls are
customised over-the-countar. These contracts ware entered into to hedge foreign currency
exposure of the Series Trust.

Foraign currency forward contracts result in exposure to market risk based on changes in
market prices relative to contracted amounts. Market risks arise due to the possible movement
in fereign currency exchange rates. In addition, becausa of the low margin deposils normally
required in relation to notional contract sizes, a high degree of leverage may be typical of a
forward trading account. As a result, a relatively small price movement in an underlying of a
forward contract may result in substantial losses to the Serias Trust

MNotianal amounts are the underlying reference amounts to foreign currencies upan which the
fair value of the forward contracts traded by the Series Trust are based. While notional
amounts do not represent the current fair value and are not necessarily indicative of the future
cash flows of the Series Trust's foreign currency forward contracts, the underlying price
changes in relation to the variables specified by the notional amounts affect the fair value of
these derivative financial instruments.

The Serias Trust transacts in foreign currency forward contracts for the account of holders of
the AUD Hedged and EUR Hedged classes of units, in principle, by selling USD and
purchasing the Reference Currencies. As a result of the Currency Hedging Transactions, an
appreciation in AUD or EUR against the USD as applicable will not lead te a coresponding
increase in the net asset value per unit of the AUD Hedged or EUR Hedged classes of units.
All gains and losses arising from these fransactions are to the account of the respective ALUD
Hedged and EUR Hadged classes of units.

The counterparty of these contracts is a fellow subsidiary of the Manager, which is a reputable
financial instilution, hence the risk of default is considered law.

a5
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10 MNet assats attributable to the unitholder
fa) Units issued and redeemed

Numberof units
2020
AUD ELR uso
Hedged class Hedged class class
At 1 July 2019 419,677 81,189 1,037,243
Subscription of units
during the year 10,483 - 2,374
Redemption of units
during the year (101,857) {10,195} {255.072)
At 30 June 2020 328,303 70,984 784 545
MNumber of unis
2015
ALD EUR uspo
Hedged class Hadged class clazs
At July 2018 320,331 111,351 1,183,269
Subseription of units
during the year 133,470 315 72,941
Redemption of units
during the year (34,144) {30,477 (218,967)
At 30 June 2019 418,677 81,189 1,037.243

As at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019, all units issued by the Series Trust were classified as
financial liabilities. The only unitholder of the Series Trust is SMBC Trust Bank Ltd. The
unithalder is the Distributor.

The Initial offering of all three classes of units were priced at a unit price of 10 currency unit of
their respective Reference Currency, Units may be redeemed cn the redemption date and
also in the event of the Series Trust's liguidation at the net asset value per unit of the applicable
class of units on the relevant redemption date with no redempticn charge.,

In meetinos of unitholders for any resolution to be proposed, individual unitholder present in
person, by proxy or by representative, has one vote for every unit of which he is the holder.
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Temphwipn Giobal Bond FAumd Foreign Cumency Seres -
o sones tel of Red Arc Global kestmanis (Capman) Tros
Financind stahemants for e pear ended 30 June 2020

10 Net assets attributable to the unitholder {continued)

The Trust and the Seres Trust do not have any externally imposed capital requirements. As
at 30 June 2020, the Series Trusi had net assets atiributable to the unitholder of $10,325,725
(20112 $14,732 525).The Series Trust sirives to invest the funds received from the issue of
units In Investments that meet the Serles Trust's Investment objective while maintaining
sufficiant liquidity to meat the funding neads when the unitholder redeams its units.

The unitholder of the Series Trust cannot switch its units into units of any other series trust of
the Trust,

The Series Trust does not intend to pay dividends or other distributions for the year ended 30
June 2020 and 30 June 2019,

() Reconcilfation of net assets

In accordance with the Serles Trust's offering memorandum, the nat assets of the Series Trust
are computed using the pre-determined cut-off time for all transactions., Transactions after the
offaring memorandum based cut-off time are rocorded the next day. Under the HKFRSs
requirements, these fransactions are recorded on the same day to comply with recognition and
derecognition criteria for the financial instruments. This approach creates a timing difference
between the HKFRSs net assets and units issued and the offering memorandum net assets
and units issued. Preliminary expenses are amortised over a period of not mere than 5 years
from date of closing in accordance with the offering memorandum. However, far financial
reporting purposes under HKFRSs, all expenses should be recognised in profit or loss when
they are Incurred.
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Financiai statemants for ihe pear ended 30 June 2020

10 Net assets attributable to the unitholder (continued)

A reconciliation of the net assets beteeen the amounts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounis computed in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2020
ALD ELIR
Hedged Hedged usp
Class class class Tolal
Met aszets attributable to the
unithalder for valuation
puUrposes % 2163554 5 G7021 § T,.4B4151 510325726
Adjustment fer timing
difference - - (1) (1)
Met assets attributable to the
unithalder as reparted in the
financial statements % 2,163,554 S 678021 & 7484150 S$10,325728
2019
ALD EUR
Hedged Hedged uso
Class class class Total
Met assets attributable 1o the
unitralder for valuation
pUrpoSEs $ 3123877 § 873445 510,731,974 $14720,296
Adjustment for timing
difference BB5 181 2,353 3,229
Met assets attributable to the
unitholder as reported in the
financial stataments § 31245862 3§ 873636 510734327 514732525
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10 Met assets attributable to the unitholder {continued)

A reconclliation of the number of units between the numbers used for valuation purposes and
the numbers recorded in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2020
AUD EUR UED
Hedged class Hedged class class
Units issued for valuation purpose 328,303 70,954 T84, 545
Adjustment for timing difference - - i
Units issued as reported in the
financial stalements 328,303 70,994 784,545
20789
ALD EUR usD
Hedged class Hedged class class
Units issuad for valuation purpose 418,677 £81.,189 1,037,243
Adjustment for timing difference - < 2
Units issued as reported in the
financlal stalements 419677 B1,188 1,037,243
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Tamekeicn obal Band Fund Forrign Curmency Sonas -
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Financial stalamants for the yaar anded 30 Mme 2020

Charges and expenses from related parties in respect of services provided 1o the Series Trust

are as follows:

Management fea:

Trustee fea:

Administrator, transfer agent and
custodian fees:

Agent company fee:

Financial statements
preparation fea;

Prafessional fes:

The Manager is enfitled to a management fee of 0.16%
per annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust
The fee is accrued daily and payable maonthly in
amears.

The Trustee charges a fee of USD10,000 per annum.
The fee is accrued daily and payable quartery in
amears.

The Administrator is entitied to 2 combined fee of up to
0.08% per annum of the net asset value of the Series
Trust, The fee is acerued daily and payable monthly in
ameaars.

The agent company charges a fee up to 0.01% per
annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust. The
fee iz accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears.

The Administrator is enfitled to a financial statements
preparation fea of USDB,000 per annum. The financial
slaternents preparation fee charged for the year
amounted to USDE,022 (2019: USDE 043},

The Trustee charges an AML fee of $4,500 per annum,

The following summarses the significant related party transactions of the Series Trust:

2020 20148
Expenses Fayables Expenses Payahlag
Management fee 3 19.058 § 2848 § 23358 % 4,138
Trustes fes 8,279 7.507 10,250 10,035
Administrator, transfer agent
and custodian fees LALY 5,647 8,759 6,131
Agent company fee 1.191 a1 1,480 119
Financial statemants
preparation fee B.022 8,816 8,043 783
Professional fee 7ETE 3,378 - -
40
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11 Related parties

The Series Trust utilises the banking services of the Administrator in the ordinary course of
their banking and securities custodian business. Information relating to the cash and cash
equivalents, and investment balance is disclosed in notes 3 and 4 respectively. During the
year ended 30 June 2020, the inlerest income earmed from the bank balances maintained with
the Administrator amounted to USD441 (2019 USDTS0).

The counterparty to the foreign currency forward contracts is a fellow subsidiary of the
Manager. Information relating to the foreign currency forward contracts Is disclosed in note

Gig)(nir).
{b) Other key contracis
iy Distributor

The Distributor charges a fee up to 0.75% per annum of tha neat asset value of the Series Trust
per unit for each unit that the Distributer 13 the registered holder. The fee s accrued dally and
payable monthly in arrears. During the period end 30 June 2020, distributor fee incurred
amaunted to USD 89,333, As at period ended date, USD 6,796 of the distributar fee remained

payable.
(il Service provider fee

The service provider is entitted to receive a fee of up to 0.08% per annum of the per unit net
assot value of the Seres Trust for each unit that SMBC Trust Bank Limited is the registered
helder in its capacity as a distributer, or distributars in Japan as may be appolnted by the
Manager fram time to time. The fee is calculated and accrued daily and payable monthly in
arrears. During the period end 30 June 2020, service provider fee incumad amounted to USD
S 529 As al period ended date, USD 725 of the distributor fee remained payabie.

12 HKey sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The fair values of financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss are
derived by valuation models using current market parameters as descrited in nofe 2(s)(ii).
Fair value estimates are made at a specified peint in ime, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncartainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannet be determined
with precision. Mevertheless, fair values can be relizbly determined within a reasonable range
of astimates.
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Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 20 June 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statemants, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2020
and which have not been adopted In these financial statements. These include the following
which may be relevant to the Series Trust:

Effeclive for
accounting perods
beginning on or after

Amendments lo HKAS 1 and HKAS B, Definition of material 1 January 2020

The Serles Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standard and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Series Trust has concluded that the adoplion of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the Series Trust's resulls of operations and financial position.

Subsequent events

Management has performed an assessment of the impact of subsequent events an the entity's
ability to continue as a geing concem and concluded that there is no going concern risk,

Since the start of January 2020, the outbreak of coronavirus, which s a rapidly evolving
situation, has adversely impacted global commercial activities. The rapid development and
fluldity of this situation precludes any prediction as s ultimate impact, which may have a
continued adverse impact on economic and market conditions and trigger a period of global
economic slowdawn,

Managemenl is monitoring developments relating to coronavirus and is coordinating its
operational response based on existing business continuity plans and on guidance from global
heallh organizations, relevant govemments, and general pandemic response best praclices.
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Supplementary information (unaudited)

Performance table
(Expressed in United States dolfars)

Total nat asset value {calculated In accordance with
the Offering Memorandumj

Met asset value per unit (caloulated in accordance with
Offering Memarandum)

- AUD Hedged class

- EUR Hedged class

- USD class

Price racord (calculated in accordance with Offering
Memorandum)

- Highest unil net azset value during the year
- AUD Hedged class
- EUR Hedged class
- UsSD class

- Lowest unit net asset value during the yeaar
- AJD Hedged class
- EUR Hedged class
- USD class

Met investment return during the year
- AUD Hedged class

- EUR Hedged class

- USD class

Yooy endad 30 Jume 2050
2020 2019
5 10,325,728 $ 14,728,255
AUD  9.816 AUD 10836
EUR  B.492 EUR B5.481
usp  9.538 USD 10.347
AUD 11,114 AUD 10818
EUR 9.625 EUR 9.589
USD_10534  USD 10470
AUD 8018 AUD  10.098
EUR  8.0B6 EUR 9375
USD 8445 Ush 9679
-9,50% 3.34%
-10.24% 1.22%
-7.81% 4.42%

The net investment returns for 2020 and 2019 was calculated by reference to the difference
between the net asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with the Offering Memorandum)
of the Seres Trust at year end date and year beginning date price, divided by the year

beginning date price to abtain the return in percentage.
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2020 10
( ) ( )

9,271,353.25 969,783,550
70,029.81 7,325,118
9,201,323.44 962,458,432

683,695.524

309,499.523

66,756.263
9.478 991
9.533 701
8.406 1,027
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2007

26

1,600

196,273,096,583
1,310,143,351
55,091
39,016,276
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2019 12 31

2019 2019 2018 2018
39,835,244 537,775,794 57,356,942 774,318,717
3,127,590 42,222,465 1,322,752 17,857,152
(20,048, 154) (270,650,079) (38,636,726) (521,595,801)
22,914,680 309,348,180 20,042,968 270,580,068
) (3,244,882) (43,805,907) (2,814,830) (38,000, 205)
19,669,798 265,542,273 17,228,138 232,579,863
19,669,798 265,542,273 17,228,138 232,579,863

)
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2019 12 31
2019 12 31
( )
2019 2019 2018 2018
© 19,753 266,666 22,749 307,112
257,483,338 3,476,025,063 253,284,299 3,419,338,037
773,374 10,440,549 132,034 1,782,459
9,175,826 123,873,651 7,366,339 99,445,577
267,432,538 3,610,339,263 260,782,672 3,520,566,072
10 5,881,203 79,396,241 4,060,446 54,816,021
2,039,978 27,539,703 19,665,036 265,477,986
© 3,662,448 49,443,048 881,075 11,894,513
11,583,629 156,378,992 24,606,557 332,188,520
255,848,909 3,453,960, 272 236,176,115  3,188,377,553
255,868,662 3,454,226 ,937 236,198,864 3,188,684 ,664
11(a) 2,000,200 27,002,700 2,000,200 27,002,700
253,868,462 3,427,224,237 234,198,664  3,161,681,964
255,868, 662 3,454,226,937 236,198,864  3,188,684,664
2020 28

)

)

)

)

)

11 31 ( )
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2019 12 31
2019 12 31
( )
2018 2,000,200 216,970,526 218,970,726
17,228,138 17,228,138
2018 12 31 2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,864
2019 2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,864
19,669,798 19,669,798
2019 12 31 2,000,200 253,868,462 255,868,662
2018 27,002,700 2,929,102,101 2,956,104,801
232,579,863 232,579,863
2018 12 31 27,002,700 3,161,681,964 3,188,684,664
2019 27,002,700 3,161,681,964 3,188,684,664
265,542,273 265,542,273
2019 12 31 27,002,700 3,427,224,237 3,454,226,937
11 31 ( )

156/250



2019 12 31
(

12 31

11

31

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 12 31

2019 2019 2018 2018
22,914,680 309,348,180 20,042,968 270,580,068
(2,992,020) (40,392,270) (1,477,579) (19,947,317)
19,922,660 268,955,910 18,565,389 250,632,752
(641,340) (8,658,090) 111,708 1,508,058
(1,809,488) (24,428,088) 4,789,899 64,663,637
1,820,757 24,580,220 (376,224) (5,079,024)
(17,625,058) (237,938,283) 9,816,813 132,526,976
1,667,531 22,511,669 32,907,585 444,252,398
(460,512) (6,216,912) (2,756,914) (37,218,339)
1,207,019 16,294,757 30,150,671 407,034,059
2,992,020 40,392,270 1,477,579 19,947,317
2,992,020 40,392,270 1,477,579 19,947,317
4,199,039 56,687,027 31,628,250 426,981,375
253,284,299 3,419,338,037 221,656,049 2,992,356,662
257,483,338 3,476,025,063 253,284,299 3,419,338,037

)
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2019 2018
39,835,244 57,356,942
39,835,244 57,356,942
2019 2018
2,992,020 1,477,579
135,570 (154,827)
3,127,590 1,322,752
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2019 2018
4,666,331 19,628,027
4,078,536 6,636,458
10,742,855 10,790,292
468,286 468,148
92,146 1,113,801
2019 2018
(19,989) (274,006)
3,261,875 3,085,307
2,996 3,529
3,244,882 2,814,830
16.5 (2018  16.5 )
2019 2018
22,914,680 20,042,968
3,780,923 3,307,090
(516,052) (218, 254)
(19,989) (274,006)
3,244,882 2,814,830
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2019 2018
881,075 826,688
(460,513) (2,756,914)
(19,989) (274,006)
@) 3,261,875 3,085,307
3,662,448 881,075
2019 2018
22,749 26,278
@) (2,996) (3.529)
19,753 22,749
( )
2019 2018
7,478,000 8,664,708
8,494,866 14,381,096
2,131,543 1,830,923
740,100 758,100
18,844,509 25,634,827
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2018 12 31

2019 2018
5,444,468 7,283,614
3,731,358 82,725
9,175,826 7,366,339
2019 2018
580,425 2,615,365
4,840,130 984,433
460,648 460,648
5,881,203 4,060,446
580,425 (2018 2,350,065 )

168/250



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

11

@
2019 2018
12 31 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200
135

®

2019 12 31

255,868,662 (2018 236,198,864 )
( )«

) 100,000
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12
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(b)
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
10
©
2019 2018
« D « )
0.28 689,064
(0.33) (831,600)

2018
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2019 2018
2,989 627,403 4,228,327 711,629 2,857,720 8,149,638
580,425 192,949 132,034
12,298,268 3,419,155 7,047,878 293,661
(4,605,392) (807,961) (4,028,308) 428,510
(394) (1,212,795) (11,820) (3,434,604) (13,077,290)
2,989 8,900,310 5,819,675 699,809 2,442,686 (4,073,447)

171/250



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

)
2019 2018
( ) « ) C ) « )
2.04 14,280
(4.35) (130) (1.05) (7,327)
5.77 513,516 0.26 6,415
2018
O]
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
13
@)
2019 2018
() 39,835,244 57,356,942
() 1,900,215 3,290,514
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(2019 18 )
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( 19 )
( 20 )
( 25 )
(
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( 27 )
( 28 )
( 30 )
( 31 )
1703( 32 )
( 33 )
1710( 34 )
( 36 )
225 ( 37 )
1802( 38 )
( 39
(2019 11 )
1809( 40 )
1903( 42 (2019 29 )
( 10 )(
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)
/
12 14 15 18 19 20 25 26 27 28 30 31 32 33 34 36 37 38
39 40 42 43
0.01 1.8
0.3
() 19 39
50 55
2019 12 31 19
689,282 (2018 :933,218 )
39 630,508 (2018 : )
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i Fisl investmen! Managemen! Limded
Favanaial stotaments for the year ended 31 December 2019

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2019
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2019 2018

$ 3

Tumover 2 38,835,244 57,356,942
Other net gain 3 3,127,590 1,322,752
Other operating expenses {20,048,154) {38,635,726)
Profit before taxation 4 22914 680 20,042 988
Income tax 5(a) (3,244 882) (2,814,830)
Profit for the year 18,660,798 17,228,138
Other comprehensive income for the year _ = =
Total comprehensive income for the year _‘] 9,669,798 17,228,138

The noles on pages 11 to 31 form part of these financial statements,
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Cigroup First nvesiment Management Liminad
Financial sfalements for the year anded 31 Dacambar 2019

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Mon-current asset
Deferred tax assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
Accounts receivable and other assels

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Amounts dus to fellow subsidiaries

Tax payables

MNet current asssts

NET ASSETS
CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital

Retained eamings

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

1

b

I!"vr"""" [s EIYJ-"J.LJ&:-_F"“!TL

i

4 b

Note 20189 2018
§ 5
5(¢) 18,753 22.14?
T 257,483,338 253,284, 299
8 773,374 132,034
9 9,175,826 7,366,339
~ 267 432,538 260,782,672
10 5,881,203 4 DB0 446
8 2,039,975 18,665,036
5(c) 3,662 448 881,075
11,583,629 24,606,557
N _2_5_5_,_@43,909 236,176.115
255 B68 662 236,198 864
11{a) 2,000,200 2,000,200
253,868,462 234,195,664
255,868,662 236,198 864

2 8 APR 2020

)
)
)
)

The nates on pages 11 to 31 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2019

{Expressed in Hong Kong dolfars)

Balance at1 January 2018

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Citigrolp First imvestment

Limiled

Financia! statamanis for fhe paar ended 31 Decembar 2048

Balance at 31 December 2018

Balance at 1 January 2019

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Balance at 31 December 2019

Share Retained
capital eamings Total
3 $
2,000,200 216,970,526 218,870,726
- 17,228,138 17,226,138
2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,854
2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,864
19,669,798 19,669,798
2,000,200 253,868 462 255 868,662

The notes on pages 11 to 31 form part of these financlal siatements.
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2019

(Expressed In Hong Kong dollars)

Operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustment for:
Interest incomsa

Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and
other assels

Increasef{decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued expenses

{Decrease)increase in amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries

Met cash generated from operations

Hong Kong profits tax paid

Met cash generated from operating activities
Investing activity

Interest received

Net cash generated from investing activity

Met increase In cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Note

7
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Cilgroun FEst imvestmant Managament Limilad
Financial stalements for the year endad 31 Decembar 2049

2019 2018

B ]

22 914 680 20,042 968
(2,892,020) (1,477,679)
18,922 660 18,566,389
(641,340) 111,708
(1,809,488) 4,789,899
1,820,757 (376,224)
(17,625,058) 9,816,813
1,667,531 32,907,585
(480,512) (2,755,814)
1,207,019 30,150,671
2,992, 020 1,477,579
2,892,020 1,477,579
4,199,039 31,628,250
253,284,209 221,656,049
257,483,338 253,284,209

The notes on pages 11 to 31 form part of these financial statements,

i0
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Giigroup First wesiment Management Liniied
Faancial gtalements for the year ended 21 December 2019

Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Inferpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA™), accounting principles generally accepted in Hang Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for eary adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Mote 1{c} provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant o the Company for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statermeants.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements Is the historical
cost basis,

The Company has chosen Hong Kong dollars as its functional currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying assets and circumstances relevant to the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statemeants in conformity with HKFRSs reguires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilties, income and expenses. The estimates and assaciated
assumptions are basad on historical experience and various other factors that are belisved to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form lhe basis of making the
judgements aboul camrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
ather sourcas, Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affacts both currant and future periods.

11
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Ciligrous Frst Imoesiment fdanagement Limied
Financia! siataments for the paar éndad 31 Decsmbar 2048

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2019 but they do not have a
material effect on the Company's financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and othar financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily eonvertibla into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an ingignificant risk
of changes in value, having been wilhin three months of maturity at acquisition,

Revanue and other income

Income is classified by the Company as revenua when it arises fram the trading activities, the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the Company’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer,

or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Company is expected to be entitled, excluding those ameounts collected on behalf of third

parties.

Where the contract contains a financing compenent which pravides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value
of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method, Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit {o the Company, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. The Company takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the perod of financing is 12 months or less,

Further details of the Company's revenue and other income recagnition policies are as
follows:

- Fee income is recognised when the relevant senvices have been rendared,

- Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest methoed.

12
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Citigroun First wwesiment Mensgemen! Limiled
Fancuy! sfalements for ithe pear endad 31 Decambar 20410

1  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{(fl  Provisions and contingent labilities

Provisions are racognised whan the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to setlle the obligation and a rellable astimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected 1o settle
the cbligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liabilily, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will anly be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occumence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remate.

(g) Accounts and other receivables

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note
1{k)(v)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties withaut
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
tha receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debis.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognised when there is objective
evidence of impaiment and are measured as the differance between the carrying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset's original
effective interest rate where the effect of discounting is material.

Ohjactive evidence of impairment includes observable dala that comes to the attention of the
Company about events that have an impact on the asset's estimated future cash flows such
as significant financial difficulty of the debtor.

{h}  Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchangs

rates ruling al the end of reperting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
statemeant of profit or loss and other comprehansive income,

13
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Citigreup First imvesimen Menagemend Limiled
Fanancial statamanis for the yaar ended 31 Decambar 2048

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assels are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss except to the extent that they relate o items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respechively.

Current tax is the expecied tax payable on the taxable income for the vear, using tax rates
enacted ar substantively enacted at the end of the reporing period, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Defermad tax assels arise from deductible temporary differences, being the differences
between the camying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax assats also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilities, all defarred
tax assals to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted al the end of reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liakilities are not discounted.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presentad
separately from each other and are not offsel. Current tax asseis are cifset against current
fax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities If, and only if, the
Company has the legally enforceable right o set off current tax assets against cumrent tax
liabilities. The principle of offsetling usually applies 1o income tax levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity.

Related parties

{a) A person, or a close member of thatl person's family, is related to the Company if that
person:

(i)  has control or joint contral aver the Company;
(i has significant influence over the Company: or

(iiy is a8 membear of the key management personnel of the Company or the
Company’s parent.

14
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Giligroup First imvestment Management Limided
Financial stalements for the year ended 31 Decembar 2019
Significant accounting policies {continued)
{B) An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(il  The entity and the Company are members of the same group {which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others),

(i} One entity is an assaciate or jeint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a jeint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v} The antily is a post-employment benafit plan for the banefit of employeess of
gither the Company or an entity related to the Company.

(vi) The entily is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence aver the entity or s a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

(viiij The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a pant, provides key
management personnel services to the Company or to the Company's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which normally will be equal o the
transaction price, plug, in case of a financial asset or financial liability not held at fair value
through profit or logs, transaction costs that are directly atiributable to the acquisition or issue
of the financial asset ar financial liability.

The Company recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to tha contractual provigions of the instrument, A regular way purchase or sale of
financial agsets is recognised using frade date accounting. From this date, any gains and
losses arising fram changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities are
recarded.

15
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Citgroug First vestment Managoment Limated
Financial steloments for the pear ended 31 Decomber 2049

1  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{iiy Classification and subsequent measurement
(A) Classification of financial assets

On initial recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL.

A financial asset [s measurad at amortised cost if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as at FYTPL.

- It Is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
cantractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
paymeants of principal and interest ("SPPI%)

All other financial assets of the Company are measured at FVTFPL.
Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the cbjective of the business medel in which a financial
asset is held, the Company considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

- the documented investmant strategy and the execution of this sirategy in practice.
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration
of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash
oufflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the azsets;

= how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company's
management;

= the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial agsets
held within that business model) and how those risks are managed,

- how the managers of the business are compensated: e g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows
collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in pricr periods, the
reasons for such sales and expeclations about future sales activity

Financial assets that ara held for trading or managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FYTPL because they are nelther held

to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to
sell financial assets.
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Cillgreyp Fis! investmen! Management Limiled
Financial siglomen!s for fhe yoar onded 37 December 2019

1  Significant accounting policies (continued)
Assessment whelher conlraclual cash flows are SPP|
For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal’ is defined as the fair value of the
financial assst on initial recognition. 'Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a paricular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g.
liquidity risk and adminisirative coats), as well as a profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the finandial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not mest this condition. [n making this assessment, the
Company considers:
- contingent events thal would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- leverage features;
- prepayment and extension features;

- tarms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-
recourse featuras); and

- features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.q, periodical reset
of interest rates)

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their inithal recognition, except in the
period after the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

(B) Classification of financial assets
fLoans and recefvables
Loans and receivables include amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, accounts
receivable and other assets and cash and cash equivalents. These assels are
measured at amorised cost using the effective interest method.
Oiher financial habilities
Financial liabilities includes amount due to fellow subsidiaries and accounts payable
and accrued expensas. These llabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effectiva interast method.

(iil Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from

the financial asset expire, or where the financial assel together with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership, have been transferred.

17
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Cigroup First imvestment Menagamen Limilad
Financial siataments for the year endad 31 Decambar 2015

Significant accounting policies (continued)

A financlal liability Is derscognised when the obligation specified in the confract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

The Company uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and losses to
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
derecognition.

Offzetting

Financial assets and financial iabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
statement of financial position where there Is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intantion 1o seitle on a net basis, or realise the asset and
setile the lability simullaneously.

Impairment

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at
amaortised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determinad to have low credit risk at the reporing date; and

- other financial aszets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the assat) has not increased significantly since initial recognition

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due.

The Company considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credit risk
rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’,

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the partion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months afler the reporting date {or a shorter period if the expectad Ife of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Company is exposed to cradit risk.

18

187/250



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

. Citigreup First investment Managemend Liniled

Firancial statements for the year ended 31 Decembar 2019
Significant accounting policies (continued}
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all cash shorifalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to
receive),
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assels carried at amortised
cost are creditimpailred, A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
oecurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
- a breach of contract such as a defauit or being more than 20 days past due; or
- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganisation
Fresentation of allowance far ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amorised cost are deducted fram the
gross carrying ameount of the assets.

Whita-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no
reasonable expeclations of recovering a financial asset in ils entirety or a portion thereof.
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Citigroup Firs! Investment Maragament LimPad
Flnancial slstameniz for the year anded 31 Decamber 2079

2 Turnover

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of investment management senvices,

2019 2018
5 5
Investment management faa ncome 30,835,244 57,356,042
20,835,244 57,356,042
3  Other net gain
2018 2018
§ §
Interest income from bank deposits with a
iellewy subsidiary bank 2,882 020 1477,578
Foreign exchange gainf{loss) 135,570 {154,827)
3,127,580 1,322,752
4  Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:
2019 2078
5 ¥
Management fee expensas 4 668,231 18,628,027
Sub-manager fee expenses 4 078,536 6,636 458
Legal and professional fee 10,742 855 10,780,282
Auditors’ remuneration 458,286 468,145

Others 892,146 1,113,801
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Chtigreus Firel imvastmen! Managaman! LimTed
Finanaial stetements for fhe pear ended 37 December 2019

Income tax

Income tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

represants:

Taxalion in the staternent of profit or foss and ather comprehensive income represents:

2018
$

(274,006}
3,085,207

3,528

2019
§

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Over-provision in respect of the prior year (19,980)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 3,261,875

Deferrad tax

Origination and reversa! of temporary differances 2,998
3,244 882

2,814,830

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year is calculated at 16.5% (2018: 18.5%) of

the estimated assessable profits.

Reconcillation between Income tax and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2018
20,042,968

3,307,080

(218,254)
(274,0086)

2019

Profit before taxation 22,814,680
Mottonal tax on profit before taxation at 16.5% (2018:

16.5%) 3,780,923
Tax effect of non-taxable income and non-deductible

loss (516,052)

Owver-provision in respect of prior year {19,589)

Actual tax axpense 3,244 882

2,614,830
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Citigrowp Fist investmant Managamend Limited
Financial statements for the pear endgd 31 December 2019

Income tax in the statement of financial position represents:

Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents:

Mote 2079 2018
5 $
Current taxation bought forward 881,075 526,688
Provisional Profits Tax Paid (480,513) (2,756,914)
Balance of Profits Tax provision relating to prior
years (19,988) (274,008)
Provisicn for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year  5{a) 3,261,875 3,085,307
3662448 881,075
Deferred lax assels recognised:

The compenents of deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 January 2019

Charged to statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

At 31 December 2019

Note 2019 2018
$ $

22,749 26,278

S(a) (2,986) (3,529)
19,753 22,749

As at 31 December 2019, there is no significant deferred lax asset or liability not recognised

or provided for (2018: $Nil).

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emaluments disclosed pursuant ta section 283(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulations are as follows:

Diractars’ fees

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kird
Discrationary bonuses

Share based payments

Retirement scheme contributions

2019 2018

5 3

7 478,000 8,664,708
8,404,866 14,381,006
2,131,543 1,830,923
740,100 758,100
18,844 508 5,634,827
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Ciligroup First imestment enegement Limilad
Financial sfalameénts for the yaar endad 31 Decsmbar 2018

Cash and cash equivalents represent deposils held at a fellow subsidiary bank as at 31

December 2019 and 31 December 2018,

Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries

The amounts due fromfto fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on

damand.

Accounts receivable and other assets

Investment management fee receivable
Legal and professional fee receivable

2019 2018

$ $
5,444,468 7,283,614
3,731,358 82,725
8,175,828 7,366,339

All of the above fee receivables except tax receivables are due from funds managed by the
Company. All the fee receivables are interest free, unsecurad and expected o be seitled

within three months.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Sub-manager fee payable
Legal and professional fee payable
Others

2019 2018

3 3

580,425 2,615,365
4,840,130 984,433
460,848 460,648
4,060,446

5,881,203

Included in sub-manager fee payable is an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of 5580425
(2018: $2,350,085). All accounts payable and acerued charges are interest free, unsecured
and expected to be settled within three months.
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11 Share capital

{a) Issued share capital

2019 2018
No. of No. aof
shares Amatnt shares Amount
5 3
Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:
At 1 January and 31 Dacember 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par valua,

The halders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

{b) Capital management

The Company's primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and palicies for distribution of excass capital may
also be affected by the group's capital management objectives.

The Company defines "capital® as including all components of equity. On this basie the amount
of capital employed at 31 December 2019 was $255,865,652 (2018: $236,198,864).

The Company's capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic condilions affecting the
Company or the group, to the extent that these do nof conflict with the directors’ fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The results of the directors’ review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the leval of dividends, if any, that are declared.

As a licensed corporation registered under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is also subject to the capital requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR"). The minimum liquid capital requirerent is the
higher of $100,000 and the variable required liquid capital as defined in the FRR. The
Company menitors its compliance with the requirements of the FRR on a daily basis. The
Cempany complied with the requirements of the FRR at all times during the year.

24

193/250



12

fa)

(b}

(c)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Citigronp First investrment Managemen! Linkted
Finanaial stelements for the year ended 31 December 2019

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks and foreign currency risk arise in the
normal course of the Company's business, These risks are managed by the Company's
financial management policies and practices described below,

Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and outstanding fees receivable arising from the Company's
investment management aclivities. Management has a cradit palicy in place and exposure to
credit risks is monitorad on an ongoing basis.

Management fee receivables are regulariy reviewed and setfled on a regular schedule. For
the balance due from fellow subsidiaries, management considers the defaulf risk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remate.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of these financial
assets as of the end of the reporting period.
Licquidity risk

The Company's policy is to regulary monitor its current and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term,

At 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2018, all financial liabilities mature within one year
or are repayable on demand. Details of the earliest contraclual settlement dates of the
financial liabilities are disclosed in notes 8 and 10.

Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to inlerest rate risk only to the extent that it eams bank interest on
cash and cash sguivalents,

Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the estimated changes in the Company's profit before tax in

respense fo estimated changes in inlerest rate with all other variables held constant 21 the
end of the reporting period.

2019 2018
Profit Prafit
before lax before tax
incraase/ increase/
{decreass) {decreasa)
% 5 % ]
Changes in interest rate
- Increase - - 0.28 689,064
- Decreasze (0.33) {831,800) - =
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Financial instruments {continued)

The sensitivity analysis above Indicates the annualised impact on the Company's profit
before tax that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
and of the reporting period and had been applied 1o re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Company which expose the Company to interest rate risk at the end of reporting
pariod. The analysis is parfarmed on the same basis for 2018,

Currency risk

Currency risk arises fram the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rate will impact the
value of financial instruments.

To minimise the exposures to foreign curency risk, management ensures that the net
exposura is kept at an acceptable lavel by buying or selling foreign currencies at spoi rates
where necessary to cover the foreign cumencies.

Exposure to cumency risk
The following table details the Company's exposure at the end of the reporting period to

currency risk arising from reccgnised assets or liabllilies denominated in currencies other
than the funciional currency of the Company to which they relate.

2019 2018
Ausirehian Japanese us Ausiraian Japanese us
Diewiars Yan Dieliars Dallars Yen DoMars
HKD HED HED MHED HKD HED
equivmignt equivalent Equiak aaquivatant aquivaiant sguhaient
Cash and cach eguialenls 2,988 627403 4,228 327 711,828 2,857,720 B 148 538
Amounts due from fellos
subsidiarias - 580425 192 929 = B 132024
Ascouns receivable and
olher assels - 12 258 266 3419155 - 7047 878 233881
Acctunts payable and
BCEruEd expenyes - 4,805,382 1807 961) - {4,026, 308) 428,570
Amounts due to
Tellpw subsiciaries - (394} (1,212,795 (11,620} (3434 804) (13,077,280
Cverall red axposure 2,585 8,900,310 EB19ETS B58,800 2 442 BBG (4,373,447

Hong Kong dollar ("HKD") is pegged to the United States dollar (*USD"), the Company
therefore consider the risk of movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
to be insignificant,
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Financial instruments (continuad)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change on the Company's profit before tax
that would arise if foreign exchange rate to which the Company hag significant exposure at
the end of reporting pered had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant.

2079 2018
Increases Inerease’

(decreases) increase’ fdecraase) Incrasse’

in foreign {decrease) in foraign fdecreasa}

exchange o profit exchange on profit

rales before lax rales before tax

% 5 % $

Australian dollars - - 2.04 14,280
{4.35) (130) (1.08) (7,327)

Japanzse Yen 5.77 513,516 0.26 8,415

The sensilivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had baen applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Company which expose the Company
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including intercompany payables
and receivables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018,

Fair values of financial assets and lfabilities
The fair values of financial assets and liabililies are considered not to be materially different

from the carrying values in the statement of financial pasition as at 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2018,

27
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Financial statements for the yesr eénded 37 December 2075

Material related party transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company had
transactions in the normal course of business with related parties as follows:

Fee income and expenses

Nole 2019 2018
B ]
Fee income
Invesiment managament fee income (i) 39,835,244 57,356,842
Fee expenses
Sub-manager fee expenses (i) 1,500 2156 . 3,280 514

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year;

- Principal Protected Dow Jones Industrial Average Linked Fund without Target Auto
Redemption (USD) (2008-12) ("Fund Series 1"} (Terminated on & February 2019)

- Principal Protected Nikkei 225 Linked Fund without Target Auto Redemption (AUD)
(2008-01) *Fund Series 4°) (Terminated on 13 March 2019)

- Knock-in Type/Lowest Price Referenca Nikkei 225 Linked Fund without Target Auto
Redemption (JPY) (2009-02) ("Fund Series 6”) (Terminated on 18 April 2019)

- Country Selector Forelgn Currency Series (USD) ("Fund Series 12"} {Terminated on 31
January 2019)

- Hybrid Tri-Asset Fund (JPY) ("Fund Series 14")

- Word CB Fund (JPY) ("Fund Series 15") (Terminated on 8 July 2018)

- Asia High Yield Bond Fund ("Fund Series 18

- Mexico Bond Fund {"Fund Series 18"

= Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 20")
- Global Balance Plus Fund ("Fund Series 25"

- Norih Amarican Equity Income Coverad Call Strategy Fund {"Fund Series 25")

28
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Material related party transactions (continued)

US Focused Growth Equity Foreign Currency Seres (‘Fund Series 277)
Treasury Premium Plus Fund {*Fund Series 287}

Fixed Income Fund ("Fund Series 30")

Treasury Premium Plus Il Fund {"Fund Series 31")

USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1703 {"Fund Series 327)
JPN High Dividend Equity with Short Index Allocation ("Fund Series 33"
USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1710 {"Fund Serfes 34")
JGB Asset Swap Fund ("Fund Series 387

Nikkei 225 Intraday Fund {*Fund Series 377)

Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1802 (*Furkd Series 387

China Hong Kong Equity Cpportunities Fund {*Fund Series 38") (Launched on 11 July
2019)

Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1809 {"Fund Serles 40%)
Target Setling At Maturity Fund 1903 ("Fund Series 42%) (Launched on 28 March 2018)

Flexibeta Fund (WT5 Defensive and VT10 Active) ("Fund Series 437 (Launched on 20
December 2019)

CGMYL Index Target Volatility Fund 2012 (SP) ("CGMYL")

Kokusai Turkish Band Open {1M) Active Currency Hedge (*HAM")

The Company is the fund advisor of the following fund during the year:

Japan Prime Selection Premium Equity Open Mother Fund ("KAM Japan Prime
Selection”) (Terminatad on 10 April 2018)

28
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Financisl statermants for the year enged 31 Decembar 2079

Material related party transactiens (continued)
The Company is entilled o fee income from the following funds under its management:
Investment management/advisory fee income

For Fund Series 12, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 25, 26, 27, 28, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35,37, 38, 39, 40,
42, 43, CGMYL, KAM and Japan Prime Selection, fees are calculated at 0.01% to 1.8% per
annum of the nat asset value of the funds,

For Series 1, 4 and &, fees are calculated at 0.3% per annum of the notlonal amount of units
In issue.

Pursuant to the sub-managemeant agreement signed between the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 19 and 29, the sub-managers’ fee expenses are payable to the
sub-managers calculated at 50% and 55% respectively of the gross management fea Income
raceived. The lotal sub-managers’ fee expenses paid fo the sub-managers for Series 19 as
at 31 December 2019 amounted {o $689,282 (2018: $933,218), while amounted to $630,508
for Series 39 (2018: $NIl).

Pursuant to the letter agreement signed between the Company and Citigroup Global Markats
Limited {"CGML"}, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, for KAM Japan Prime Selection, the
data service fee expense payable to CGML are calculated at 0,18% per annum applied to
the daily net asset value of the fund. The total data service fee expenses paid to CGML as
at 31 December 2019 amounted to $580,425 (2018: $2,357,288).

Management fee expenses

The Company paid management fee expenseas to fellow subsidiaries, which provided
andllqry sale support services fo the Company. The management fee expense for the
reporting period as at 31 December 2019 amountad to $4 666,321 (2018: $19,628,027).
Key management personnel emoluments

Besides the directors’ emoluments disclosed in note 8, there were no other key management
personnzl emoluments.

Amounts dizclosed include emoluments totalling $18,844,508 (2018; $25,634,827) to cartain
key management personnel were paid by group companies of the Company. The Company
did not directly reimburse the group companias for the service provided.
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Citigroup First Fvesimen! Mamagement Limited
Frencrl statemenls for the vear anded 31 Decembar 2019

Immediate parent and ultimate controlling party

At 31 December 2019, the directors consider the Company's immediate parent to be
Citigroup Global Markets Hong Kong Heldings Limited, which was incorporated in Hong
Keng. This entity produces financial statements but not available for public use. Its ultimate
controlling party at 31 December 2018 is considered fo be Ciligroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Cltigroup Inc. produces consclidated financial
stataments under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
which are available for public usa.

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statemeants, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements,
These include the following which may be relevant to the Company.

Effeclive for

accounting periods

beginning on or after

Amendments fo IAS 1 and IAS 8, Definition of material 1 January 2020
1 January 2020

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developements is expecied 1o be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the financial statements.

Subsequent events

A novel strain of coronavirus (CCVID-18) was classified as a pandemic by the World Health
Organization on 11 March 2020, impacting countries globally. The potential impacts from
COVID-18 remain uncertain, including, among other things, on economic conditions,
business and consumers. The extent of these impacts on tha Company are unclear, although
they will likely adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition.

This is a non-adjusting event and an estimate of the financial effect cannot be made at the
point in time as the situation remains a rapidly evalving cne,

2
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series (the
“ Series Trust” ), a series trust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust, set on pages 7 to 42,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in net assets attributable to the unitholder and the statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Series Trust as at 30 June 2020, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (* HKFRSs” )
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“ HKICPA” ).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“ HKSAs” ) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors”
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Series Trust in accordance with the HKICPA"s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“ Code” ) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The Series Trust may translate these financial statements and our auditors® report from English to
Japanese. We have not been engaged to perform any procedures over the translation. In the event of any
inconsistencies between the English and the Japanese versions of the financial statements and our
auditors® report, the English version shall prevail.

Information Other Than the Financial Statements and Auditors® Report Thereon

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report, but does not include the
financial statements and our auditors® report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee (continued)
Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial Statements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and for such
internal control as the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible
for assessing the Series Trust"s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager
and the Trustee of the Series Trust either intend to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors”® Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors® report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust.
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee (continued)

Auditors” Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager®s and Trustee"s use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust"s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors® report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors® report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG
11 December 2020
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Independent auditor®s report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited

(* the Company” ) set out on pages 7 to 31, which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, the statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“ HKFRSs” )
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“ HKICPA” ) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (* HKSAs” ) and
with reference to Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and
associated entities of intermediaries, issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the HKICPA"s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (* the Code” ) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor”s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor”s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor®s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are in
accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of
Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company®s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors® use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company®s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor®s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of
the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince"s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong
28 April 2020
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